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United States District Court,
S.D. Texas,
 Houston Division.
 L.F. b/n/f Mary Ruffin, Plaintiff,
v.
 HOUSTON INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT, Defendant.

Civil Action No. H-08-2415.
Aug. 4, 2010.

MEMORANDUM AND OPINION
LEE H. ROSENTHAL, District Judge.
*1 The plaintiff, Mary Ruffin, suing on behalf of her daughter, L.F., moved for a new trial or to alter and amend the judgment entered in favor of the defendant, the Houston Independent School District (HISD). L.F. is a student with disabilities eligible to receive special education and related services from HISD. Ruffin sued in 2008 to challenge the decision of a Texas Education Agency special education hearing officer that in the 2006-2007 and 2007-2008 school years, HISD had provided L.F. a free appropriate public education (“FAPE”) under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (“IDEA”), 20 U.S.C. § 1400 et seq. Under the IDEA, the parents of a disabled child may file a complaint “with respect to any matter relating to the identification, evaluation, or educational placement of the child, or the provision of a free appropriate public education to such child.” 20 U.S.C. § 1415(b) (6). Ruffin had filed a complaint with the Texas Education Agency on April 20, 2007, on behalf of L.F. See L.F. b/n/f M.R. v. Houston Indep. Sch. Dist., Docket No. 222-SE-0407. After an evidentiary hearing held in March 2008, the hearing officer issued an opinion concluding that HISD provided Ruffin's child with an FAPE consistent with the IDEA's requirements and denying the relief Ruffin sought, which included a change of placement, private tutoring at HISD expense, and outside therapeutic counseling.

In this suit, Ruffin alleged violations of the IDEA, 20 U.S.C. § 1400 et seq., and the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. § 794, and civil rights violations under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.  Ruffin argued that this court should disregard the hearing officer's decision because of an alleged inappropriate relationship between that officer and HISD's counsel. HISD moved for summary judgment that the administrative record established that as a matter of law, Ruffin did not show any violation of federal law and was not entitled to the relief she seeks. HISD also moved for sanctions for Ruffin's accusation that HISD's counsel and the hearing officer had an inappropriate “bedroom” relationship.  This court granted HISD's motion for summary judgment and granted in part and denied in part HISD's motion for sanctions.  Final judgment was entered in September 2009.

Ruffin, proceeding pro se, filed a motion for new trial within ten days after the judgment was entered.  The motion is properly considered under Rule 59(e) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

I. The Motion for New Trial

 Analysis
Ruffin appears to argue that several of the statements in this court's opinion were not supported by the administrative hearing record and related documents. The HISD has responded to some of the arguments to illustrate that they ignore other parts of the administrative record. Given the scattershot nature of the arguments, it is useful to focus on the two school years at issue.

[bookmark: Document1zzF00112022718019]Ruffin argues that this court was incorrect in rejecting her allegation that the HISD failed to provide proper notice of the February 15, 2007 Admission, Review, and Dismissal Committee (“ARDC”) meeting. The record showed that the ARDC chairperson took a number of steps to schedule an ARD meeting when all necessary personnel could attend and to provide notice to Ruffin.FN1 The record showed that hand-delivery of the notice was attempted at Ruffin's home on February 8, 2007, five school days before the meeting, and the school sent her a copy of the notice in the mail. Ruffin's argument is not supported by the record.

[bookmark: Document1zzB00112022718019]FN1. As this court recounted in the opinion, James King, the ARDC Chair and Special Education Department Chair at Kelso Elementary, tried to schedule an ARDC meeting to review the recently completed evaluations of L.F. On January 4, 2007, King hand-delivered to Ruffin's home a notice of a meeting scheduled for January 11, 2007. Because Ruffin was not home, King left the notice with Ruffin's brother. Ruffin responded by a facsimile communication on January 8, 2007, stating that she could not attend a meeting on January 11. Ruffin then called King to complain about him hand-delivering the notice and threatened to have him arrested for trespassing. (Transcript of March 12, 2008 Hearing at 91:5-12). On January 11, King mailed Ruffin a second meeting notice, proposing a meeting date of January 19. Ruffin responded on January 16, stating that she was only available on January 30. King could not schedule the meeting on that date because some of the necessary HISD staff members were unavailable. King left Ruffin a telephone message on February 6, 2007 to discuss alternative dates. Ruffin did not respond. (Hearing Officer Opinion at 5). King decided to schedule the meeting for February 15, 2007. On February 8, 2007, King had a courier service hand-deliver another meeting notice to Ruffin at her home. The courier service returned the notice, stating that he was informed that Ruffin did not live at that address. (Transcript of March 12, 2008 Hearing, at 90:10-21). King sent Ruffin a copy of the meeting notice by regular mail on February 8. (Hearing Officer Opinion at 5).

[bookmark: Document1zzF00222022718019]Ruffin also argues that the record does not support rejecting her claim that L.F. was wrongly denied extended school year (ESY) services. (Docket Entry No. 58 at 15-16). The record shows that the ARDC committee in February 2007 determined that L.F. did not need ESY services. The hearing examiner found that the record showed that “individuals with multiple years of contact with Petitioner, including her BSC [Behavior Service Class] teacher for the past three years and her school principal for the past six years ... determined that ESY services were not needed for Petitioner as she was not likely to show regression over the summer months.” (Hearing Officer Opinion at 5, ¶ 16, citing R. Ex. 3 at 21, Transcript of March 12, 2008 Hearing at 95). In this ARD meeting of February 15, 2007, the ARDC concluded that L.F. should continue to receive special transportation to and from school, spend 25 hours per week in the BSC classroom, and receive 30 minutes of counseling per week. The ARDC developed a new behavioral support plan and a new IEPs for L.F. The plan and IEPs included classroom modifications of extended time, modified assignments and assessments, oral responses, and an assigned seat. The ARDC declined to recommend ESY services, noting that L.F. had not shown regression over the summer break. (Admin. Record at 827). Ruffin points out that the following year, when L.F. was moved to middle school, she did receive ESY services. The record shows that the October 2007 ARDC did recommend ESY services, which this court noted in the prior opinion.FN2 That fact does not make the February 2007 ARDC's conclusion that ESY services were not needed a violation of the IEP or a failure to provide a free appropriate public education.

[bookmark: Document1zzB00222022718019]FN2. On October 17, 2007, the ARDC at Attucks Middle School sent Ruffin notice of a meeting to be held on October 26, 2007. The notice included L.F.'s new proposed IEPs for 2007-2008. Ruffin attended the meeting, which lasted from 9:00 a.m. to 2:00 p.m. (Admin. Record at 1033-34). The IEPs included goals and objectives in reading, English, math, history, science, social skills, and counseling. (Id. at 1008-15). The ARDC recommended that L.F. continue receiving a majority of her instruction in the BSC classroom, but that she also attend physical education and study lab in a general education classroom. (Id. at 1016). L.F.'s behavioral support plan was updated and modified, and the ARDC recommended that L.F. receive one hour of counseling per week. (Id. at 1018). The ARDC also recommended that L.F. receive ESY services in the summer of 2008 to address behavioral and academic goals. (Id. at 1031). Ruffin disagreed with the IEPs, stating that the instructional levels were too high. (Id. at 1034). Ruffin asked for an Independent Educational Evaluation, which the ARDC granted. (Id.). In November 2007, the staff at Attucks Middle School attempted to reconvene an ARDC meeting, but Ruffin declined. (Hearing Officer Opinion at 12).

*4 Ruffin argues that the record shows that in the semester beginning in January 2007, the HISD failed to comply with the IEP and did not provide L.F. education in the least restrictive environment (“LRE”). Ruffin bases her argument on one statement made by Ronald Riley, a special education teacher at Kelso Elementary, that L.F. stayed in his classroom all day and that the textbooks used were fifth-grade books. (Docket Entry No. 58 at 19, 21-22; Docket Entry No. 65 at 5; Transcript of March 12, 2008 Hearing, Vol. 1 at 151-52). The IEP established in the February 2007 ARD required L.F. to spend 25 hours per week in the BSC classroom and to receive 30 minutes of counseling per week. The hearing examiner specifically found that during the 2006-2007 school year, L.F. received all counseling hours specified in her IEP. (Hearing Officer Opinion at 6, ¶ 25). The record is consistent with this conclusion. (Transcript of March 12, 2008 Hearing, Vol. 2 at 289; P.Ex. 7 at 101-02). Riley's cited testimony shows that, consistent with the IEP, the classroom instruction L.F. received was in the BSC. Ruffin's argument that this testimony also shows a violation of the IEP specifications for the grade level for each academic subject L.F. was to receive is similarly unpersuasive. (Docket Entry No. 65 at 5-6). The record shows that L.F. successfully completed fifth grade, achieving the ARDC's expectations on the SDAA test. (Admin. Record at 956-57, R. Ex. 14). L.F. was promoted to the middle school and another ARDC was held in October 2007. (Admin. Record at 961, R. Ex. 16).

Ruffin also challenged the finding by the Hearing Officer that during the 2007-2008 school year, the BSC classroom teachers implemented the proper IEP. The record showed that when L.F. entered middle school, the ARDC continued B SC placement for her. The ARDC recommended that in middle school, L.F. receive 22.8 hours of special education services per week, and an IEP was developed for academic areas, social skills, and counseling. Another ARDC was held on October 26, 2007. Ruffin relies on one statement by John Pham, L.F.'s teacher in November 2007, identifying the February 2007 rather than the October 2007 ARD as the one he was implementing. (Transcript of March 13, 2008 Hearing, Vol. 2 at 329). The record shows that during the beginning of the school year, the IEPs put into place were those developed in the February 2007 ARDC meeting. (Hearing Officer Opinion at 7, ¶ 33, Transcript of March 12, 2008 Hearing, Vol. 1 226-27, 251; Vol. 2, 329). The record shows that the October 2007 IEP was later implemented. The October 2007 ARD recommended increasing the amount of counseling L.F. received. That was done. (Admin. Record at 1073, R. Ex. 29 at 7; Transcript of March 12, 2008 Hearing, Vol. 2 at 184-85). The record also showed that L.F. passed all her subjects in the first semester of 2007 with a grade of 80, except for PE/Health, and that in the second grading period, she made a 90 average in math, study lab, English, and social studies; a 75 average in enrichment; an 84 average in PE/Health; and an 85 average in science. In the second grading period, her conduct grades improved. In the six-week grading period just before the due process hearing, her progress on her IEP objectives also improved. (Hearing Officer Opinion at 7, ¶ 34, 35). There is no basis to find that the wrong IEP was implemented.


*6 The record shows that Ruffin's disagreements with this court's findings are in many cases a disagreement with the decisions made by the educators and administrators who are charged with providing her daughter with a free appropriate public education. The record shows that Ruffin has insisted that the HISD provide L.F. with a free appropriate education and that the HISD has worked diligently to perform that responsibility. The record shows that “(1) the program is individualized on the basis of the student's assessment and performance; (2) the program is administered in the least restrictive environment; (3) the services are provided in a coordinated and collaborative manner by the key ‘stakeholders'; and (4) positive academic and non-academic benefits are demonstrated.” Houston Indep. Sch. Dist. v. V.P. ex rel. Juan P., 582 F.3d 576, 584 (5th Cir.2009) (citing Cypress-Fairbanks Indep. Sch. Dist. v. Michael F., 118 F.3d 245, 253 (5th Cir.1997)), cert. denied, 130 S.Ct. 1982 (2010). Both the hearing officer and this court found that all of these considerations militated in favor of finding that HISD provided L.F. with a free appropriate public education. Ruffin's arguments do not support the relief she seeks under Rule 59.

III. Conclusion
Ruffin's motion for new trial is denied. 
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